2011

BV Lending, LLC v. Jordanelle Special Service District : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

JURISDICTION

On August 26, 2011, the District Court entered its *Order Granting in Part and Denying in Part Defendants' Motion to Dismiss* (the “**Order**”). On November 9, 2011, the District Court entered its *Order Granting Plaintiffs' Motion for Rule 54(b) Certification* (the “**Certification Order**”), wherein the District Court certified the Order as final and appealable at the request of Appellants BV Jordanelle, LLC (“**BVJ**”) and BV Lending, LLC (“**BVL**” and, together with BVJ, “**BV**”). Accordingly, this Court has jurisdiction to hear and decide this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78A-4-103(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the District Court err when it dismissed for lack of traditional standing at the Rule 12(b)(6) pleadings stage and without considering any evidence BV’s claims under the Utah and United States Constitution where BVL, which had a lien on the Encumbered Subject Property when the Assessment Ordinance was passed, subsequently assigned its interest and claims to BVJ, an affiliate, and BVJ now owns the property and must either pay the claimed assessment or risk forfeiture of its property? (Issue preserved in BV’s Joint Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss, R. 1796-99.)

2. Did the District Court err when it dismissed for lack of alternative standing at the Rule 12(b)(6) pleadings stage and without considering any evidence BV’s claims under the Utah and United States Constitution where BVJ was found to be an appropriate party to assert such claims and where the important legal question presented is whether a lien holder of record is constitutionally entitled to actual notice of a proposed assessment ordinance which will prime its lien before the assessment is enactment? (Issue preserved

in BV's Joint Memorandum in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss, R. 1796-99.)

Standard of Review: “[A] determination of standing is generally a question of law, which [this Court] review[s] for correctness.” *Mellor v. Wasatch Crest Mut. Ins. Co.*, 2009 UT 5, ¶ 7, 201 P.3d 1004. An appellate court will afford “deference for factual determinations that bear upon the question of standing, but minimal deference to the district court’s application of the facts to the law.” *Cedar Mountain Envtl., Inc. v. Tooele Cnty.*, 2009 UT 48, ¶ 7, 214 P.3d 95. As the District Court did not take or consider any evidence prior to entering the Order, BV asserts that the standard of review here is purely *de novo*, and that the Order must be reviewed for correctness.

DETERMINATIVE CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS AND STATUTES

- I. **Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution**, a copy of which is attached to Appellants’ brief as Addendum 1.
- II. **Fourteenth Amendment to the United States Constitution**, a copy of which is attached to Appellants’ brief as Addendum 2.
- III. **Constitution** of the State of Utah, Article I, Section 1

All men have the inherent and inalienable right to enjoy and defend their lives and liberties; to acquire, possess and protect property; to worship according to the dictates of their consciences; to assemble peaceably, protest against wrongs, and petition for redress of grievances; to communicate freely their thoughts and opinions, being responsible for the abuse of that right.

- IV. **Utah Code Ann. § 11-42-106 (2007)**, a copy of which is attached to the Appellants’ brief as Addendum 3.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case and Course of Proceedings

This appeal is from a final order entered by Judge Derek P. Pullan of the Fourth Judicial District Court, Wasatch County, State of Utah, which dismissed certain of BV's claims for lack of standing. BV asserted numerous claims before Judge Pullan under Utah and federal law stemming from the Assessment Ordinance (as defined in the First Amended Complaint) which was adopted in July 2009. The Assessment Ordinance purported to levy a multi-million dollar assessment against and impose a priming lien on part or all of the approximately 584.36 acres now owned by BVJ (the "**Encumbered Subject Property**"). Although BV's claims all stem in some way from the Assessment Ordinance, the underlying case can be divided naturally into two separate sets of facts and claims. Those separate facts and claims are referred to herein as the "**Notice Claims**" and the "**Implementation Claims.**" Generally, Judge Pullan dismissed the Notice Claims for lack of standing, but allowed the Implementation Claims to go forward.

Brief Description of the Notice Claims: BVL received no notice of the assessment before its passage and, as a result, was unable to appear and be heard concerning it, even though BVL had recorded trust deeds against the Encumbered Subject Property exceeding \$6 million at the time of the assessment. Defendants claim that their assessment lien, which now purportedly exceeds \$26 million, primed BVL's recorded interest, as mortgagee, in the property and became a lien on par with a statutory property tax lien. BV asserted below that, if the assessment lien primed BVL's lien as claimed by

Defendants, then those actions rendered BVL's recorded interest in the Encumbered Subject Property without any economic value. Accordingly, BV asserted that its constitutional rights were violated, including its right to due process, because BVL was not provided with notice of the proposed Assessment Ordinance and was therefore denied an opportunity to be heard or challenge the assessment. BV also asserted that Defendants' actions resulted in a taking of its property without just compensation in violation of the United States and Utah Constitutions. These Notice Claims were dismissed by Judge Pullan, not upon the merits, but rather because Judge Pullan did not believe that either BVL (which had a multi-million dollar lien on the Encumbered Subject Property when the assessments occurred) or BVJ (which is a related entity that now owns the Encumbered Subject Property and must pay the assessment or lose its interest) had standing to assert the claims.

Brief Description of the Implementation Claims: BV also has asserted claims against Defendants arguing that, even if the Assessment Ordinance was lawfully enacted, the subsequent implementation of the Assessment Ordinance by the Defendants has been unlawful. In other words, these claims allege facts demonstrating that even if the Assessment Ordinance were properly enacted, the Defendants have failed to move forward in accordance with the requirements of the Assessment Ordinance, and that either BV does not owe the assessment or, at a minimum, that BV does not owe as much as Defendants claim. These Implementation Claims remain pending against the Defendants below.

Statement of Facts

1. BVJ is an affiliate and assignee of, and the successor in interest to, all rights and claims of BVL with respect to the Encumbered Subject Property, including all rights and claims of BVL that are asserted herein against the Defendants. (R. 1393.)

2. Defendant Jordanelle Special Service District (“JSSD”) is a special service district, as that term is defined and used in the Utah Special Service District Act, created by Wasatch County. (R. 1393.)

3. Defendant Jordanelle Special Service District, Utah Special Improvement District No. 2005-2 (the “**District**”) is a county improvement district created in 2006 by Resolution 2006-4 of the Wasatch County Council acting as the governing board of JSSD pursuant to the Utah County Improvement District Act. (R. 1392.)

4. On or about October 19, 2005, the Wasatch County Council, acting as the governing board of JSSD, adopted a Notice of Intention declaring the intention of JSSD to create the District. (R. 1392.)

5. In February 2006, the Wasatch County Council adopted a Creation Resolution and thereby created the District. The boundaries of the District included certain real property owned by PWJ Holdings, LLC, or its predecessor in interest (collectively, “**PWJ**”), which was commonly referred to as both “**Talisman**” and “**The Aspens**” (the “**Subject Property**”). (R. 1391.)

6. In or about March 2008, BVL made two secured loans to PWJ. At the time of the loans, PWJ was the fee simple owner of the Subject Property. PWJ’s obligations under the loans were secured by the Encumbered Subject Property, which consists of a

portion of the Subject Property, by that certain Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents (“**Deed of Trust**”), dated March 31, 2008, executed by PWJ, as Trustor, in favor of BVL, as beneficiary. (R. 1391.)

7. The Deed of Trust was recorded against the Encumbered Subject Property and, upon its recordation, became a valid, perfected lien on and security interest against the Encumbered Subject Property. The Deed of Trust encumbered approximately 584.36 acres (according to the records of the Wasatch County Assessor) of the Subject Property which, as noted above, is referred to herein as the Encumbered Subject Property. (R. 1390.)

8. The Deed of Trust granted to BVL was a first priority lien on the Encumbered Subject Property at the time of recordation, subordinate only to a lien for general property taxes in favor of Wasatch County. At the time the BVL Deed of Trust was recorded, all general property taxes that had become due and payable on the Encumbered Subject Property had been paid in full. Thus, PWJ owned the property free and clear at the time. (R. 1389.)

9. On June 23, 2009, well after the date of recordation of the BVL Deed of Trust against the Encumbered Subject Property, the Wasatch County Council recorded a Notice of Proposed Assessment against certain property in the District, including the Encumbered Subject Property. (R. 1389.)

10. Thereafter, on or about July 8, 2009, the Wasatch County Council, acting as the governing board of JSSD and the District, adopted an Assessment Ordinance levying an assessment against certain properties within the District which Wasatch County, JSSD

and the District claimed were or would be benefited directly or indirectly by certain improvements that had been or would be constructed within the District. The Assessment Ordinance purported to levy an assessment against part or all of the Encumbered Subject Property, among other properties in Wasatch County. (R. 1389.)

11. Upon information and belief, the total principal amount of the assessment under the Assessment Ordinance for the entire District was \$50,236,063.13. (R. 1388.)

12. The Assessment Ordinance was passed by the Wasatch County Council on July 8, 2009, and notice of its passage was published once in the Wasatch Wave, a newspaper in Wasatch County, on July 15, 2009. Thus, pursuant to the Utah Area Assessment Act, the Assessment Ordinance became effective on July 15, 2009, and the thirty (30) day period provided in the Assessment Ordinance for challenging the Assessment Ordinance expired on August 14, 2009. (R. 1384.)

13. BV asserts that the amount of the assessment levied against the Encumbered Subject Property was drastic, and substantially if not totally impaired the value of BVL's first position Trust Deed and BVL's interest in the Encumbered Subject Property. (R. 1384.)

14. Even though it had a recorded lien on and interest in the Encumbered Subject Property by virtue of the BVL Deed of Trust, BVL was not provided with any notices from Wasatch County, JSSD, the District or anyone else regarding the consideration or adoption of the Assessment Ordinance, and was not given the opportunity to question, challenge, argue against or otherwise dispute the Assessment Ordinance, or the method and rate of the assessment, prior to its adoption. (R. 1383.)

15. BVL and BVJ did not learn about the Assessment Ordinance until after August 14, 2009, which was the last day pursuant to the terms of the Assessment Ordinance that a challenge could be brought to the Assessment Ordinance. (R. 1383.)

16. Between July 8, 2009, and August 19, 2009, Wasatch County, JSSD and the District adopted certain other ordinances and resolutions affecting the Encumbered Subject Property and the proposed imposition of assessments and liens against the Encumbered Subject Property. (R. 1383.)

17. Even though it had a recorded lien on and interest in the Encumbered Subject Property by virtue of the Deed of Trust, BVL was not provided with any notices from Wasatch County, JSSD, the District or anyone else regarding the consideration or adoption of these additional ordinances and resolutions, and was not given the opportunity to question, challenge, argue against or otherwise dispute these ordinances and resolutions, or the method and rate of the assessment, prior to their adoption. (R. 1382-83.)

18. BVL and BVJ did not learn about and did not have notice of the existence of these additional ordinances and resolutions adopted in 2009 until January 2010. (R. 1382.)

19. On August 19, 2009, JSSD adopted a Notice of Assessment Interest, which Notice of Assessment Interest was thereafter recorded on September 24, 2009, against the Encumbered Subject Property. (R. 1382.)

20. Under the Notice of Assessment Interest, JSSD provided record notice that it was claiming an interest in certain property, including in particular the Encumbered

Subject Property, “arising out of the requirements of the Jordanelle Special Service District, Utah Special Improvement District No. 2005-2 (the ‘District’) and the terms and provisions of the Assessment Ordinance adopted by the Wasatch County Council as the governing body of JSSD on July 8, 2009, levying an assessment against certain properties in the District.” (R. 1382.)

21. Even though it had a recorded lien on and interest in the Encumbered Subject Property by virtue of the Deed of Trust, BVL was not provided with any actual notices from Wasatch County, JSSD, the District or anyone else regarding the consideration or adoption of the Notice of Assessment Interest, and was not given the opportunity to question, challenge, argue against or otherwise dispute the Notice of Assessment Interest, or the method and rate of the assessment, prior to its adoption and/or recordation. (R. 1382.)

22. BVL and BVJ did not learn about and did not have actual notice of the Notice of Assessment Interest until January 2010. (R. 1381.)

23. On October 29, 2009, the trustee under the Deed of Trust granted by PWJ to BVL foreclosed upon and sold the Encumbered Subject Property at a trustee’s sale held pursuant to Utah law (the “**Foreclosure Sale**”). (R. 1381.)

24. The Foreclosure Sale was held because PWJ had previously failed to pay all or any portion of the First Note or the Second Note. At the time of the Foreclosure Sale, PWJ owed \$8,684,279.65 under the First Note and the Second Note. (R. 1381.)

25. BVL was the successful bidder for the Encumbered Subject Property at the Foreclosure Sale. As a result, BVL acquired the Encumbered Subject Property in return

for a credit bid against the amounts owed under the First Note and the Second Note in the amount of \$8,684,279.65. (R. 1381.)

26. After the Foreclosure Sale concluded, BVL transferred, conveyed and assigned its interest under the First Note, the Second Note, the Deed of Trust and the Encumbered Subject Property, and any and all claims or causes of action related thereto, including but not limited to the claims asserted against Defendants below, to BVJ, which is an affiliated special purpose entity that was formed specifically to hold title to the Encumbered Subject Property. (R. 1381.)

27. BVJ is the current record owner of the Encumbered Subject Property, and has held title to the Encumbered Subject Property since October 29, 2009. (R. 1381.)

28. Under the foregoing ordinances and resolutions, Wasatch County, JSSD and the District have purported to assess the Encumbered Subject Property and impose a lien upon the Encumbered Subject Property, with the same priority as general property taxes, to secure repayment of certain improvements. Under the foregoing ordinances and resolutions, Wasatch County, JSSD and the District claim that the Encumbered Subject Property is encumbered by assessment liens in the amount of somewhere between \$10,000,000.00 and \$30,000,000.00.¹ (R. 1380-81.)

¹ Originally, Defendants claimed that the assessment could be allocated to the various properties that were formerly part of the Talisman development, and that BV only needed to pay its aliquot share of the assessments related solely to the property owned by BV and the number of ERUs assigned to that property (which Defendants claim is 617.131607 ERUs). Recently, however, Defendants have taken the position that the entire assessment related to the Talisman development, consisting of 1,376.320496 ERUs, must be paid in order to clear the assessment lien against the Encumbered Subject Property. In other words, even though Defendants concede that BVJ has only

29. On August 30, 2010, BV filed their initial Complaint in this action. (R. 39-68.) On January 12, 2011, BV filed their First Amended Complaint (the “Complaint”). (R. 1353-94.)

30. The Complaint challenges the constitutionality of the Assessment Act, and specifically Utah Code Ann. § 11-42-106, by alleging that the Act violates the United States and Utah Constitutions. In particular, BV contends that, because BVL had a recorded trust deed against the Encumbered Subject Property when the Assessment Ordinance was enacted, it was entitled to actual notice and an opportunity to be heard regarding the ordinance before the ordinance was enacted. Because the Act does not require that actual notice be provided to a recorded lienholder, it is unconstitutional both on its face and as applied to the particular facts here. (R. 1353-94.)

31. On February 16, 2011, Defendants filed a motion to dismiss the Complaint. One of the arguments for dismissal was BV’s alleged lack of standing to assert their claims, constitutional or otherwise, against Defendants. (R. 1704-60.)

32. On August 26, 2011, the District Court entered its Order, wherein it dismissed for lack of standing BV’s Notice Claims. In short, the District Court held that BVL lacks traditional standing to assert the Notice Claims because it no longer has any interest in the Encumbered Subject Property, and that BVJ also lacks traditional standing

44.84% of the ERUs associated with the Talisman development, and even though BVJ only owns a portion of the land which formerly comprised the Talisman development, it must pay for all of the ERUs that were assigned to all of the Talisman development in order to clear the assessment lien from the Encumbered Subject Property. Further, Defendants contend that the amount owed for the entire Talisman development, with penalties and late fees, easily exceeds \$26 million.

because BVJ had no interest in the property at the time of the challenged actions. (R. 1885-95.)

33. The District Court also held that BVL and BVJ both lacked alternative standing to assert their Notice Claims. Specifically, the District Court held that BVL was not an appropriate party to have alternative standing because it no longer owned the property and that, although BVJ was an appropriate party for alternative standing because it owned the Encumbered Subject Property and was the one who was being asked to pay the assessment or face a foreclosure, and although the District Court recognized that the case “impacts the rights of private property owners,” the court nevertheless held that the “case does not present issues of sufficient public importance to grant BVJ alternative standing.” (R. 1885-95.)

34. In support of that holding, the District Court simply stated the following:

Unlike Grantsville (involving closure of a military base and adverse economic impact of closure on the entire Tooele community), Cedar Mountain (where the “land use actions challenged . . . involved an industry that poses potential environmental and health-related harms [*sic*] to the citizens of Tooele County”), and Sierra Club (which claimed that a Coal Fire Plant would emit hazardous chemicals near homes and a national park), a public interest of equal weight is not at stake here.

(R. 1890.)

35. As the foregoing indicates, the dispositive and controlling legal questions here are (a) whether BVL and/or BVJ have traditional standing to challenge the Defendants’ actions, and (b) even if they both lack traditional standing, whether this case, and the claims asserted by BV below, presents issues of sufficient public importance to allow BVJ to assert the Notice Claims under the doctrine of alternative standing.

36. With all due respect to the District Court, BV believes the District Court erred in dismissing for lack of standing BV's Notice Claims. Both BVL and BVJ were before the Court in the same action, and if they do not have traditional standing to sue Defendants then no one does. Moreover, the merits of the Notice Claims (which will never be heard if the Order is allowed to stand) raise numerous state and federal constitutional issues, including, without limitation, due process, related to whether or not the Assessment Ordinance was properly adopted without notice to Appellants. These are issues of substantial public importance, and the District Court should have allowed BV to present these issues on their merits.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

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