2011

BV Lending, LLC v. Jordanelle Special Service District : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Rather than address the standing arguments that led to the dismissal of their claims, the BV Entities characterize this case as a “deprivation of property rights without due process of law” hoping the Court will overlook that the BV Entities lack standing to pursue their constitutional claims. However, this case is not about the deprivation of property rights. This case is not about a multi-million dollar assessment lien “prim[ing] BVL’s recorded interest.” This case is not about the assessment lien rendering BV Lending’s recorded interest without economic value. To the contrary, this is a case in which the BV Entities cannot and do not allege that Defendants acted in violation of the Act. This is a case in which Wasatch County and the District strictly complied with the four corners of the Act, including by providing notice. This is a case in which the owners of the Aspens Parcel, among others, came to Wasatch County and requested it construct \$50 million in improvements, which the District did. This is a case in which BV Lending on its own, openly and knowingly extended credit to PWJ Holdings without doing its own due diligence. This is a case in which the BV Entities want the Court to correct its own bad business deal. The Court should see through the BV Entities’ façade and affirm

the district court's dismissal of the first, second, and third causes of action on the grounds the BV Entities lack standing.

Throughout its brief, the BV Entities argue that since "the party that owned the property at the time of the assessment and was harmed by the priming lien (BVL) and the party that currently owns the property and must pay the assessment or risk foreclosure (BVJ)," are both before the Court, they must somehow have standing to pursue their claims. (*See* Appellant's Brief at 3, 5, 8, 9, and 10.) This generalization, however, completely ignores the facts of this case and the law that applies to the creation of a special improvement district, the constructing and installation of improvements, and the adoption of the assessment lien against those who benefit directly from the improvements. Here, there is no dispute that the owners of the Aspens Parcel, along with the other owners within the District, have benefited substantially from the establishment of the District. Without the sewer and water facilities, no development can occur.

However, the fundamental error in the BV Entities entire brief lies in the fact that BV Lending relinquished, transferred and conveyed its interest in the BV Property thereby removing any obligation to pay any portion of the assessment. As such, it has no injury from the adoption of the Assessment Ordinance. Instead, it pawned off that obligation to BV Jordanelle, an entity that was created **after** the Assessment Ordinance was adopted by Wasatch County. Both parties acted with knowledge of the existence of the Assessment Ordinance and notice of the assessment lien. Hence, they cannot be heard to complain now.

More importantly, when the Court evaluates the standing of each party separately, as it must, the unyielding conclusion is that neither party has standing. To have standing a party must: (i) assert that it has been or will be adversely affected by the challenged actions; (ii) allege a causal relationship between the injury to the party, the challenged actions and the relief requested; and (iii) seek relief that this substantially likely to redress the injury. Here, on the one hand you have BV Lending who, although arguably harmed by the priming of its security interest, elected to go forward with a trustee's sale, extinguish its security interest, and convey its interest to BV Jordanelle. As the court held, "BV Lending eliminated any stake it may have had in the outcome of these proceedings, especially since it has no personal obligation to pay the assessment." (R. 1892.) Similarly, since BV Jordanelle did not even exist when the assessment lien was adopted and made a matter of public record, it is impossible for its due process rights to have been violated.

ARGUMENT

The issue before this Court is straightforward: do the BV Entities have standing to pursue their constitutional claims? The answer is no.

It is axiomatic that before a party may pursue a claim, the party must establish that it has standing, which is determined at the time the action is brought. *Nova Health Sys. v. Gandy*, 416 F.3d 1149, 1154 (10th Cir. 2005). Utah standing law "operates as gatekeeper to the courthouse allowing only those cases that are fit for judicial review." *Terracor v. Utah Bd. of State Lands & Forestry*, 716 P.2d 796, 798-99 (Utah 1986). By limiting cases, it ensures "that courts confine themselves to [the] resolution of those disputes most

effectively resolved through the judicial process.” *Id.* at 799. Here, despite the protestations that their constitutional rights to due process have been violated, the BV Entities lack standing to pursue their claims and the district court properly dismissed the first, second and third causes of action.

I. JUDGE PULLAN CORRECTLY RULED THAT THE BV ENTITIES LACK TRADITIONAL STANDING.

The Utah Supreme Court has held that a party does not have standing to challenge a county’s actions unless the party had an interest in the affected property **at the time** the complaint was filed. *Cedar Mountain Environmental, Inc. v. Tooele County*, 2009 UT 48, ¶¶ 3-5, 214 P.3d 95 (emphasis added); *see also Jenkins v. Swan*, 675 P.2d 1145, 1149 (Utah 1983) (“The requirement that a plaintiff have a personal stake in the outcome of a dispute is intended to confine the courts to a role consistent with the separation of powers, and to limit the jurisdiction of the courts to those disputes which are most efficiently and effectively resolved through the judicial process.”). As discussed more fully in *Jenkins*, there are two means by which a party may establish standing: (i) the traditional test and (ii) the alternative test. *Jenkins*, 675 P. 2d at 1150-51. The traditional test is referred to as the “distinct and palpable injury” test and requires the plaintiff to allege that it has “suffered or will ‘suffer[] some distinct or palpable injury that gives it a personal stake in the outcome of the legal dispute.”” *Utah Chapter of Sierra Club v. Utah Air Quality Board*, 2006 UT 74, ¶ 19, 143 P.23d 960 (citing *Jenkins*, 675 P.2d at 1148). To determine whether a party has suffered a distinct and palpable injury, the Court engages in a three step inquiry:

First, the party must assert that it has or will be ‘adversely affected by the [challenged] actions.’

Second, the party must allege a causal relationship ‘between the injury to the party, the [challenged] actions and the relief requested.’

Third, the relief requested must be ‘substantially likely to redress the injury claimed.’

Id. “A person who satisfies the traditional test has standing and the court need not inquire further.” *Id.* at ¶ 41. As demonstrated below, however, the district court ruled that the BV Entities failed to demonstrate a distinct and palpable injury, thereby determining the BV Entities lack standing to pursue their constitutional claims.

A. BV Lending Lacks Traditional Standing Because It Does Not Own the Property at Issue and Is Not Responsible for the Assessment.

A fundamental flaw in the BV Entities’ standing argument is their refusal to accept the undisputed facts of this case and their impact on standing. Although the BV Entities would have this Court believe that the district court recognized it met the first two elements of the traditional standing test, based on the undisputed facts and the district court’s ruling, BV Lending cannot meet three standing requirements. Specifically, the district court found that BV Lending divested itself of any interest in the BV Property when it conveyed the property to BV Jordanelle. (Statement of Facts (“SOF”) ¶ 53.) Without any interest in the BV Property, BV Lending cannot claim it was adversely affected by the adoption of the Assessment Ordinance. Nor can it claim a causal relationship between the injury to BV Lending, the adoption of the Assessment Ordinance and the relief requested – declaratory judgment. Finally, as the district court

correctly ruled, BV Lending lacks traditional standing because it does not have a stake in the outcome of the proceedings. (*Id.*)

One of the requirements for standing is that “the parties seeking relief must have a legally protectable interest in the controversy” or a “personal stake in the outcome of a dispute.” *Jenkins v. Swan*, 675 P.2d 1145, 1148 (Utah 1983). BV Lending has neither.

Specifically, Judge Pullan held that:

BVL no longer has a security interest or ownership interest in the property, having transferred ownership of the property to BV Jordanelle in November 2009. By divesting itself of any interest in the property, BVL eliminated any stake it may have had in the outcome of these proceedings and the relief sought, especially since the assessment lien does not follow BVL has a personal obligation.”

(SOF ¶ 53.) The BV Entities incorrectly state that Judge Pullan found BV Lending was injured when the Assessment Ordinance was adopted without notice being provided to BV Lending. (Appellate Brief at p. 4.) This is not accurate. The district court’s ruling merely accepted the allegations of BV Lending as it was required to do on a motion to dismiss. Nonetheless, Judge Pullan went a step further and determined that regardless of this fact, BV Lending lacks standing due to a lack of redressability. (SOF ¶ 53.) Having sold and conveyed its interest in the BV Property, BV Lending has no personal stake or a legally protectable interest in the controversy. (*Id.*)

BV Lending admits it did not own the BV Property at the time it filed the Complaint. (*Id.* at ¶ 4.) Also, it is undisputed that BV Lending is not liable for the assessment. Nor do Defendants seek to foreclose against any property owned by BV Lending. Put simply, the outcome of this matter will not affect BV Lending in any way.

Because of this, the relief that the BV Entities seek will not redress the alleged injury to BV Lending. Therefore, BV Lending does not have traditional standing to bring this lawsuit. See *Cedar Mountain Environmental, Inc. v. Tooele County*, 2009 UT 48, ¶ 10, 214 P.3d 95, (“[W]e have determined that to have a personal stake in the outcome of a land use decision, a party must own or occupy property within the jurisdiction of the decision-making body.”); *Tholen v. Sandy City*, 849 P.2d 592, 595, n.4 (Utah Ct. App. 1993) (In ruling complaint was untimely, Court concluded that if plaintiff sold property to third-party, the assessment lien would not follow the seller as a personal obligation.)

Nor can BV Lending attempt to prove standing by bootstrapping the standing analysis to its due process claims. To argue that somehow it is afforded a more lenient standard with respect to standing because it asserts procedural due process claims is of no avail. None of the cases cited by BV Lending support their argument. The *Copelin-Brown* and *Carey* cases stand for the proposition that a person’s right to due process may be actionable even when there are *nominal damages*. *Copelin-Brown v. New Mexico State Personnel Office*, 399 F.3d 1248,1254 (10th Cir. 2005); *Carey v. Phillips*, 435 U.S. 247, 266 (1978). Here, BV Lending does not seek nominal damages. (SOF ¶43.) It seeks declaratory judgment from the Court that the notice requirements of the Act are unconstitutional. (*Id.*) It seeks declaratory judgment to vacate the Assessment Ordinance and excuse its lien obligations. (*Id.*) This far exceeds the nominal damages purportedly allowed in the absence of actual injury, and justifies a heightened standing requirement. This is particularly so where the Utah legislature has already determined that the

appropriate parties to receive notice of a proposed assessment are the owners of the property affected thereby. *See* Utah Code Ann. § 11-42-101 *et seq.*

Additionally, *Lujan v. Defenders of Wildlife*, 504 U.S. 555, 573 n.7 (1992), has no application here where the Court stated that the traditional standing requirements may be loosened where, for example:

One living adjacent to the site for proposed construction of a federally licensed dam has standing to challenge the licensing agency's failure to prepare an environmental impact statement, even though he cannot establish with certainty that the statement will cause the license to be withheld or altered, and even though the dam will not be completed for many years.

Id. An individual living next to a proposed dam cite is in a vastly different position than a party who no longer owns the property at issue and has no obligations related to the property.

The BV Entities' reliance on *Electric Power Supply Association v. FERC* is also unfounded. 391 F.3d 1255, 1261-62 (D.C. Cir. 2004). In *Electric Power Supply*, EPSA sought to participate in a FERC hearing pursuant to the Sunshine Act, but it did not have any concrete or particularized harm to show it was currently aggrieved by the challenged orders. *Id.* at 1262. The Court found that even though EPSA lacked financial interest, because EPSA has a right, protected by the Sunshine Act's proscription against *ex parte* communications, to "fair decision making" by the Commission, "[t]his, not the financial interests of EPSA and its members, is the right directly protected by [the Act] and impaired by the market monitor exemption." *Id.* Thus, standing was premised upon the right to "fair decision making" provided by the Sunshine Act. *Id.* There is no analogous

right conferred upon mortgagees here. Nor have the BV Entities alleged a lack of “fair decision making.” To the contrary, they claim their due process rights were violated because they did not receive “actual notice” that the District was seeking to adopt the Assessment Ordinance. (SOF ¶ 43.) They do so in the face of admitting that Wasatch County and the District gave the required notice under the Act and Utah law and that the Creation Resolution (which expressly outlined the means and methods upon which the assessment would be levied) was properly adopted and a matter of public record. (*Id.* ¶ 19.)

Similarly, *Citizens for Better Forestry* is distinguishable where the court expressly held that the plaintiffs sustained an injury, and thus had standing: the “Citizens have adequately alleged injury to their members. The interest at stake preventing environmental damage to national forests and grasslands due to decreased regulatory oversight are pertinent to the interests of environmental organizations such as Citizens.” *Citizens for Better Forestry v. US Dept. of Agriculture*, 341 F.3d 961, 976 (9th Cir. 2003). Again, here, there is no plausible injury to BV Lending.

Accordingly, because BV Lending transferred and conveyed any and all right, title and interest in the BV Property to BV Jordanelle and has no obligation to pay the assessment, it lacks traditional standing to pursue any of the claims asserted in this case.

B. BV Jordanelle Lacks Traditional Standing.

Bypassing the traditional standing test, the BV Entities attempt to bolster BV Jordanelle’s standing by claiming that if BV Lending does not have standing, BV Jordanelle must. BV Jordanelle lacks standing because it, too, cannot demonstrate a

“distinct and palpable injury.” *Sierra Club*, 2006 UT at ¶ 19. BV Jordanelle took title to the BV Property subject to all encumbrances, liens, assessments and all the like, of which it had actual or constructive notice at the time title was transferred. (SOF ¶ 30); *see Brewer v. Peatross*, 595 P.2d 866, 868 (Utah 1979) (“An encumbrance may be said to be any right that a third person holds in land which constitutes a burden or limitation upon the rights of the fee title holder.”); *see also* Utah Code Ann. § 57-4a-2 (“A recorded document imparts notice of its contents regardless of any defect, irregularity, or omission in its execution, attestation, or acknowledgment.”). As such, Judge Pullan held:

BVJ lacks traditional standing. . . . BVJ was not formed until October 29, 2009. Effective the same day, BVL transferred the property to BVJ. On the day BVJ acquired the property, the assessment ordinance, notice of assessment, and assessment lien were all matters of public record. Therefore, the adoption of [those documents] did not cause injury to BVJ’s interest in the property. **At the time of these events, BVJ did not even exist as a legal entity.**

(SOF ¶ 54.) Therefore, BV Jordanelle does not have standing because it did not even exist when the “challenged action” – the adoption of the Assessment Ordinance – became effective. Not to mention, the Assessment Ordinance was a matter of public record when BV Jordanelle took title to the BV Property. (*Id.* at ¶ 30.)

Unlike the instant case, in which the District recorded the Creation Resolution, the *Brewer* court affirmed judgment in favor of grantees for breach of warranty deed due to the governing entities’ failure to record the creation of improvement district. *Brewer*, 595 P.2d at 868. Indeed, BV Jordanelle took its interest in the BV Property over five years after the Creation Resolution was recorded and months after the Assessment

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